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JENNIFER J. WIRSCHING 

California SBN 263141 

jenniferwirsching@libertybelllawgroup.com 

LibertyBell Law Group 

245 E. Olive Ave 

4
th

 Floor 

Burbank, CA 91502 

818-563-2355 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  

FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI 
 
 
 

THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
 
 
                      Plaintiff, 
v. 
 
 
CHRISTOPHER CURTIS KELLEY, 
 
 
                     Defendant. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

CASE NO.:  12-04043-01-CR-C-BP 
 
DEFENDANT’S SENTENCING 

MEMORANDUM  

 
 
Date: January 23, 2014 
 
Time: 10:15 A.M. 
 
Judge: Hon. Beth Phillips 

 
 

Defendant, CHRISTOPHER CURTIS KELLEY (“Mr. Kelley”), through and by his counsel, 

respectfully submits this sentencing memorandum. 

 

Dated: January 16, 2014    

         

 

        ___/s/Jennifer J. Wirsching____ 

        Jennifer J. Wirsching 

        Pro Hac Vice 

        Attorney for Defendant 

        CHRISTOPHER KELLEY 
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I. 

DEFENDANT KELLEY’S SENTENCING MEMORANDUM 

 

 

Defendant Mr. Kelley is to be sentenced by this court following his conviction at trial 

April 24, 2013 on two counts of violation of 18 USC §844(i) Arson.  Mr. Kelley maintains his 

innocence in this matter, plans to appeal his conviction, and renews his previously noticed 

objections to the PSR.  Since he has suffered a conviction, despite his innocence, he submits that 

a concurrent sentence at the mandatory minimum of 60 months is sufficient but not greater than 

necessary.   

Mr. Kelley has zero (0) criminal history points, and therefore has a criminal history 

category of I.  The total offense level is 26, so that the USSG guideline range is 63-78 months.  

Taking into account Mr. Kelley’s lack of prior criminal convictions, his youth, his strong family 

ties, and his character as an intelligent, artistic and caring person, he respectfully presents that 

despite his firm maintenance of his innocence, a sentence at the statutory mandatory minimum of 

60 months is appropriate. 

 

A. Renewed Objections to the PreSentence Report 

Mr. Kelley renews his each of his objections to the PSR sent to the Probation Officer on 

September 27, 2013, and included in the Amended PSR filed by the Probation Officer on 

October 9, 2013. 

// 

// 
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B. Background  

Mr. Kelley is a creative, kind-hearted, intelligent and loving 27 year-old man, who, for 

those very qualities, is greatly loved and supported by many people.   This young man, who 

maintains his innocence in this matter, is not what many people would perhaps expect of 

someone convicted of a federal offense.  He has no prior criminal convictions, he is a college 

graduate, he has a strong and loving family, and is constantly creating.  He has a long history of 

creativity and a positive attitude.  He has earned Bachelor’s Degrees in both Anthropology and 

English, and has been actively involved in the arts since he was a child.  He was a founding 

member of the Film Club in High School, won first prize at the Pulaski County language Arts 

Fair when he was only in third grade, with his hilarious children’s book entitled “Zack Attack’s 

Thanksgiving.”  During his incarceration since his conviction, rather than simply “waiting it 

out,” he has been drafting a novel, and has to date completed over 200 pages of this work.    

As the Court can see in the attached character letters, everyone in Mr. Kelley’s young life 

has deep positive experiences relating to Mr. Kelley’s involvement in their lives.  Clint Kelley 

writes “He is such a great and important force in my life, that I even named my son after him.”  

Several themes emerge from the letters submitted on his behalf, caring, compassionate and 

creative among them.  Many people note that Mr. Kelley is the type of person who shepherds 

insects and spiders out of living spaces, rather than simply killing the pest and moving on with 

his day.  Former teachers characterize Mr. Kelley as a good student who always held a positive 

attitude, and who had on occasion returned to his former school and visited and praised the 

current students.   

 While these letters are best read to fully appreciate, it is clear that Mr. Kelley is not a man 

with any type of violent or anti-social history, but is in fact exactly the opposite. 
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C. Mandatory Minimum is Appropriate 

The legislature has taken what they consider the most serious offenses, and set mandatory 

minimums on those convicted of such offenses.  This was done in part to reflect the seriousness 

of these offenses, and to assure severe punishment aside from what the US sentencing guidelines 

provide.  In the instant case, the statute of conviction carries a mandatory minimum sentence of 

60 months.  Under the appropriate analysis under the US sentencing guidelines, which further 

take into account the specific facts and circumstances of the case, which the statute of course 

cannot do, virtually the same result occurs – a guideline range of 63-78 months.   

While arson is a serious offense, the guidelines have taken all of these factors into 

consideration.  Mr. Kelley is young, has no prior convictions, a high level of education, and a 

supportive group of family and friends – all of which indicate a low level of risk for recidivism.  

Despite the fact the losses caused occurred to a distinguished university, which is much beloved, 

this emotional factor should not play a role in sentencing.  To do so could be arguably be said to 

minimize the importance of other buildings damaged by arson, such as people’s apartments, 

small businesses or recreational facilities.  For these reasons, a sentence at the mandatory 

minimum of 60 months is appropriate. 

 

D. Public Welfare Departure is Not Appropriate 

Because the PSR mentioned the Public Welfare upward departure basis, Mr. Kelly 

respectfully submits that this departure is not appropriate in this case.  As Mr. Kelley noted in his 

objections to the PSR, the PSR writer did not state any facts or conditions specific to Mr. Kelley 

or to this offense in support of this departure.  While the PSR writer’s response references 

Monograph 107 and states that “the probation office is identifying facts or circumstances 

addressed in the report that may be relevant to the Court’s consideration,” it is again useful to 
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note that no facts or circumstances were stated. (PSR Addendum, page 4)  Additionally, the PSR 

writer states that the public welfare guideline was also included to “provide[] notice to the parties 

that a departure could be considered based on the factors listed.” Id. The obvious problem with 

this attempt at “notice” is that, in fact, no factors were listed at all.  Arguably, this does not 

constitute proper notice, as no facts or circumstances related to this matter were identified by the 

probation office.  If this were to be considered proper notice, it would put the defense in the 

absurd position of having to guess what possible facts or circumstances could potentially be 

raised in support of such a departure.  

Even if proper notice had been given, and factors and facts identified (which they were 

not), this basis for departure is not appropriate in this matter.  Pursuant to USSG 5K2.14, “[i]f 

national security, public health or safety was significantly endangered, the court may depart 

upward.”  (Emphasis added)  The author’s note to this section states that “[i]n order to depart 

under §5K2.14, the danger posed to public safety must be substantially in excess of the danger 

ordinarily involved in crime.”  While the arson in this matter caused property damage, it was of a 

non-residential, unoccupied building which was closed and locked to the public at the time of the 

fire.  This in no way evinces facts suitable to create “significant” public endangerment, nor is it 

“substantially in excess of the danger” posed by arson in general.  For these reasons, an upward 

departure based on public welfare is inappropriate. 

 

E. Property Damage or Loss Departure is Not Appropriate 

U.S.S.G. §5K2.5 provides for an upward departure from the guidelines when property 

damage or loss “not taken into account within the guidelines” is present.  Clearly, the guidelines 

are primarily based on property damage or loss in the case of arson, as the harm caused by the 

offense is, by definition, property damage or loss.  Every arson results in property damage or 
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loss.  In fact, the offense’s primary defining factor is “damage or destr[uction], by means of fire 

or an explosive, any building …” 18 USC 844.  The guidelines then, are providing guides to 

sufficient, but not greater than necessary, sentencing for causing property damage or loss.  The 

guidelines further take loss into account in USSG 3D1.2, which provides grouping for offenses 

which do not involve separate and distinct victims, and USSG 3D1.4, which calls for additional 

offense level points when there were separate losses to separate victims.  In fact, the calculation 

of how many additional points will be assessed under 3D1.4, is based on units, with “one Unit 

for the highest offense level” and “one additional Unit for each group that is equally serious.” 

(Emphasis added)  Mr. Kelley was convicted of two counts of arson, an offense defined by 

property loss.  Thus, both damage and loss caused by arson have been sufficiently considered by 

the guidelines: the damage caused by the offense is by nature property loss, hence the high base 

offense level assigned to the offense (24); and the addition of (2) offense level points due to the 

second count, which was assessed an additional Unit for being “equally serious” to the primary 

count.  Repair to a building, any building, following a fire is expensive.  Water damage from 

sprinkler and fire department hoses are universal in every building fire.  The instant case is no 

different from any other arson in this aspect, property was damaged, and it cost money to repair 

that damage.    

 

F. Conclusion 

While Mr. Kelley maintains that he is innocent of these offenses, he acknowledges that 

he has been found guilty at trial, and that his sentence must reflect the seriousness of the offense, 

promote respect for the law, and provide just punishment. 18 USC §3553(a)(2).  For the 

foregoing reasons, Mr. Kelley therefore submits that a sentence at the mandatory minimum of 60 

months is sufficient but not greater than necessary to achieve those goals. 
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Dated: January 16, 2014    Respectfully Submitted, 

       LIBERTYBELL LAW GROUP 

      

 

       ___/s/Jennifer J. Wirsching____ 

       Jennifer J. Wirsching 

       Pro Hac Vice Attorney for Defendant 

       CHRISTOPHER KELLEY 
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